Addressing Performance Measure Gaps in Home and Community-Based Services to Support Community Living:

Initial Components of the Conceptual Framework

INTERIM REPORT JULY 15, 2015



This report is funded by the Department of Health and Human Services under contract HHSM-500-2012-00009I Task Order HHSM-500-T0014.

CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	2
THE NEED FOR A MEASUREMENT FRAMEWORK FOR HOME AND COMMUNITY-BASED SERVICES	4
Performance Measurement Landscape in HCBS	4
Environmental Context	4
Setting Priorities for Home and Community-Based Services Quality Measurement	5
Related Efforts in HCBS and Measurement	6
OPERATIONAL DEFINITION AND CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK	7
Definition of Home and Community-Based Services	7
Characteristics of High-Quality Home and Community-Based Services	9
Conceptual Framework for Measuring Home and Community-Based Services	10
Committee Recommendations: Priority Measure Domains and Subdomains	11
NEXT PHASE OF PROJECT WORK	15
Continuing Environmental Scan	15
Continuing Synthesis of Evidence	15
Future Milestones	16
APPENDIX A: Home and Community-Based Services Committee Roster	19
APPENDIX B: Crosswalk of High-Quality HCBS System Characteristics and Domains from Literature	20

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Demand is rising for community-based, long-term supports and services that enable people to live well outside of institutional settings. Multiple factors contribute to this demand, including the demographic shift brought on by the aging American population and an increasing number of children and adults who live with disabilities of various types. Consumer preferences and the policy environment also continue to favor community living over more restrictive environments. An array of home and community-based services (HCBS) now exist to maximize the ability of people to live independently in the community, but the quality of those services is not yet measured systematically.

In 2013, the Commission on Long Term Care noted that current annual costs for long-term supports and services were \$130 billion, with approximately two-thirds provided by federal and state funding.¹ Similarly, researchers at the AARP Public Policy Institute estimated the economic value of family caregiving in the United States to exceed \$450 billion in 2009.² Taken together, these massive investments and the fundamental importance of HCBS to people who have long-term care needs point to the need to better understand the quality and value of HCBS.

In response, the National Quality Forum, under a contract with the Department of Health and Human Services, is convening a multistakeholder Committee to develop recommendations for the prioritization of measurement opportunities that would address gaps in HCBS quality measurement. This work will identify high-leverage areas for performance measurement and recommend the development or refinement of measures. In doing so, it will contemplate the range of populations that use or need HCBS, varied community settings, payers, delivery systems, and accountable entities. This two-year project will involve:

- The creation of a conceptual framework, including an operational definition for HCBS;
- A synthesis of evidence and environmental scan for measures and measure concepts;
- The identification of gaps in quality measurement; and
- Recommendations for prioritization in measurement.

This interim report details the Committee's work to develop a conceptual framework for quality measurement. To support this goal, the Committee crafted an operational definition for HCBS to reach a common understanding of what it does and does not include. The resulting draft definition of HCBS is:

The term "home and community-based services" (HCBS) refers to an array of long-term supports that promote the independence, well-being, and choices of an individual of any age who has physical, cognitive, and/or behavioral health needs and that are delivered in the home or other integrated community setting. Following the creation of the definition, the Committee identified characteristics of highquality HCBS that outline how services *should* be delivered. The Committee's list of characteristics is extensive but important for framing the vision for quality. These characteristics express the importance of ensuring the adequacy of the HCBS workforce, integrating healthcare and social services, supporting the caregivers of individuals who use HCBS, and fostering a system that is ethical, accountable and is centered on the achievement of an individual's desired outcomes.

The Committee delineated a universe of domains and subdomains for quality measurement as the first step towards later prioritization. The Committee identified a total of 11 quality measurement domains which point to important areas for measurement and/or measure development. Numerous potential subdomains for measurement exist under each of the domains, and the Committee has begun the process of defining them. Finally, these components of the conceptual framework and other aspects of the Committee's discussion are represented in an illustration of the function of quality measurement. With the goal of providing a unified picture of HCBS quality measurement, the project will be guided by related efforts and build on previously completed work. It will provide a framework through which stakeholders can align broader measure development efforts by ensuring that financial and human resources are purposefully targeted. The Committee's deliberations will be informed by an ongoing environmental scan and synthesis of evidence. This first of three interim reports will communicate significant Committee findings to the public and invite their comments. The project will conclude with a final report outlining recommendations for addressing gaps in HCBS quality measurement. NQF Members and the public are encouraged to participate and provide feedback throughout the project as it continues through September 2016.

THE NEED FOR A MEASUREMENT FRAMEWORK FOR HOME AND COMMUNITY-BASED SERVICES

Performance Measurement Landscape in HCBS

Over the past decade, the National Quality Forum (NQF) has endorsed hundreds of performance measures to address important areas for improving health and healthcare. At the same time, many measures gaps have been identified, but the lack of an organizing framework through which to analyze and prioritize them has presented a challenge in determining where scarce resources should be allocated for future development. With the development of the Department of Health and Human Services' (HHS) National Quality Strategy for Improvement in Health Care (National Quality Strategy or NQS), a clear blueprint is now in place to better assess critical gaps in quality and efficiency measures.³ One important gap is in measures that address home and communitybased services (HCBS) that support community living. NQF's completed and current measure gap prioritization projects lay a foundation for setting goals and coordinating action in measure development in high-impact areas. The significance of quality measurement in HCBS is heightened as more care is being delivered in community settings.

The purpose of this project is to further advance the aims and priorities of the Affordable Care Act (ACA), the NQS, and the work of HHS' Community Living Council by identifying priorities for performance measurement, scanning for potential measure concepts to address these priorities, and developing multistakeholder recommendations for future measure development and advancement. This report, the first of four to be produced over the life of the project, presents the initial findings and guidance of the Home and Community-Based Services Quality Measurement Committee. The Committee roster is provided in Appendix A.

Environmental Context

The United States is experiencing a major shift in the nation's demographics with a rapid increase in the number of people who require long-term services and supports (LTSS). LTSS are generally considered to include assistance with activities of daily living (ADLs) and instrumental activities of daily living (IADLs) for older adults and/ or people with disabilities who cannot perform these activities on their own due to a physical, cognitive, or health condition. The category of LTSS is broad and includes care and service coordination for people who live in their own home, a residential setting, a nursing facility, or other institutional setting. HCBS is a subset of LTSS that functions outside of institutional care to maximize independence in the community. Both LTSS and HCBS also include supports provided to family members and other unpaid caregivers of individuals with LTSS needs.

Demand for these services is increasing and will continue to do so. The Administration for Community Living (ACL) projects that the number of people 65 years and older will exceed 70 million by 2030, accounting for 19 percent of the population and doubling the total number of older Americans since 2000.⁴ In 2013, 37 million people in the U.S. were classified as having a disability, with more than 50 percent of that total in their working years (18-64).⁵ In addition, approximately 60 million Americans experience a mental illness annually, and 13.6 million people are currently living with chronic mental illness.⁶ Finally, projections show that 21 million individuals are expected to be living with multiple chronic conditions by 2040, many of whom will require LTSS.7 An increasing share of LTSS is comprised of HCBS, promoting independence and wellness outside of institutional settings.

This project utilizes a comprehensive approach to considering all types of people who could, and do, use HCBS. It is inclusive of both government and private sector funding sources for HCBS. In 2011, 3.2 million people received Medicaidfunded HCBS.⁸ People who purchase or otherwise receive HCBS can generally access the same type of supports as people with Medicaid or other public benefits; however, their costs are borne out-of-pocket. The project considers all types of consumers; older adults, people with multiple chronic conditions, and people with disabilities comprise the core target groups. The project will also incorporate the specialized HCBS needs of people with mental disorders, traumatic/ acquired brain injury, HIV/AIDS, and other distinct subpopulations as part of the larger group of people with disabilities. It will also consider the population of children and adults who experience developmental delay, recognizing that delays place them at increased risk for disability.

In 2013, the Commission on Long Term Care issued a Report to the Congress noting current annual costs for LTSS were \$130 billion—approximately two-thirds provided by federal and state funding. These expenditures are expected to grow dramatically in concert with demand.⁹ Outlays for HCBS now constitute nearly half of Medicaid's long-term care expenditures, and have risen significantly in recent years.¹⁰ Given the anticipated growth in Medicaid coverage and the breadth of services covered through HCBS, this is a critical time to better understand performance of these services and their contribution to the HHS goals of building a health system that delivers better care, spends healthcare dollars more wisely, and makes communities healthier. Through the federal-state partnership of Medicaid, the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) and states are the dominant funders of HCBS. As a result, CMS and states also drive much of the current quality monitoring and quality measurement activity in the marketplace. Recognizing its importance, this project will deliberately consider the role of Medicaid and the program's diversity across states. The Committee's approach also recognizes that HCBS extends well beyond services purchased by Medicaid. First, a host of other federal, state, and local programs provide HCBS. These include ACL, the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA), the Administration for Children and Families (ACF), the Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), and others. In addition, there is a large and growing private-pay market for HCBS. Finally, HCBS consumers receive assistance from family members, friends, and volunteers in the form of informal care, in addition to paid or formal services. As a quality measurement framework for HCBS continues to emerge, it must contemplate the relationships between various funding streams, regulators, accountable entities, the extensive and diverse network of HCBS providers, modern service delivery models including self-direction, and potential implications for how aligned measurement systems would be put into place across the evolving health and LTSS systems.

Setting Priorities for Home and Community-Based Services Quality Measurement

HHS has contracted with NQF to convene a multistakeholder Committee of experts to prioritize performance measurement opportunities in HCBS. The recommendations generated through this project will be instrumental in identifying high-impact areas for future HCBS measurement and influential on the process of developing a nationally endorsed and accepted quality measure set for HCBS. The two-year NQF project encompasses:

- creating a conceptual framework for measurement, including a definition for HCBS;
- performing a synthesis of evidence and environmental scan for measures and measure concepts;
- 3. identifying gaps in HCBS measures based on the framework and scan; and

 making recommendations for short- and longterm efforts to develop reliable and valid HCBS measures.

This project is intended to build upon any previous and/or ongoing work related to HCBS quality in order to provide a unified picture of HCBS quality measurement and to identify opportunities for measure development. Its intent is to provide a framework through which stakeholders can align broader measure development efforts by ensuring that financial and human resources are purposefully targeted. The systems-level framework, described later in the report, reflects the values and philosophy of HCBS, demonstrating person-centeredness and inclusiveness. The work will quicken the pace of development and use of national measures of HCBS that matter to consumers, families, and stakeholders at all levels of the system who have a role in improving HCBS quality.

Related Efforts in HCBS and Measurement

There have been several ongoing and related efforts, at the federal policy level and in the realm of quality measurement, to support improvement in HCBS. For example, the Deficit Reduction Act (DRA) of 2005 (PL 109-171, Section 6086(b)) directed the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) to develop HCBS quality measures for the Medicaid program. To lay the groundwork for meeting these requirements, AHRQ contracted with Thomson Reuters (now Truven Health Analytics) to conduct an environmental scan of existing and potential measures.¹¹ While the scan is now several years old, it was very thorough and included more than 200 measure sources. NQF is updating and building upon this work and other previously completed efforts to identify measures and potential measure concepts for HCBS.

CMS has sponsored the development of an HCBS taxonomy further explaining the types and uses of HCBS. Under Medicaid, a wide array of services and supports has been approved as HCBS including: personal care, homemaker, habilitation, transportation, case management, supported employment, environmental modifications, respite care, and support broker and financial management services that may be required in selfdirected service delivery models.¹² This taxonomy is to be implemented into the new version of the Medicaid Statistical Information System (MSIS), which gathers national eligibility, enrollment, program utilization, and expenditure data.

In addition, important activities are emerging around electronic service plans for longterm supports and services (eLTSS). CMS's Demonstration Grant for Testing Experience and Functional Tools (TEFT) initiative is currently working on a HCBS consumer experience of care survey, Continuity Assessment Record and Evaluation (CARE) tool functional item set, and development of standards for electronic and personal health records.¹³ These efforts are laying the groundwork to develop an eLTSS health record and interoperability standards to exchange records across providers. They are also demonstrating the use of personal health record systems with beneficiaries who use HCBS. Progress is currently being fostered through Medicaid, but there is potential to expand and share the results.

These are just a few of the dozens of important inputs to the Committee's work. Despite the existence of several established frameworks and/or lists of quality measurement domains for LTSS and HCBS, the availability and uptake of performance measures remain limited and lack uniformity across states and across other levels of analysis (e.g., provider, managed care organization). In light of the increasing use of HCBS nationally and the associated costs, this is a serious deficit in the quality measurement enterprise. Stakeholders have called for more systematic measurement for many years, but the current environment reflects the fragmented nature of the decentralized HCBS system as well as a historical lack of consensus about the best path forward for implementation of measurement. NQF will continue to research previous and current efforts to advance this project.

OPERATIONAL DEFINITION AND CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK

This section presents an operational definition for HCBS and a draft conceptual framework for quality improvement through measurement developed by the multistakeholder Committee. The operational definition is the first component of the measurement framework. The project's operational definition of HCBS is meant to provide the Committee, as well as public and private stakeholders, with a common understanding of HCBS to allow for a more systematic identification and categorization of HCBS. It is not meant to replace any existing regulations or guidance previously crafted for a specific purpose. Rather, the definition and measurement framework will be used to organize the deliberations of the Committee by clarifying the role of quality measurement in the broader HCBS system and within the larger healthcare system. In that vein, the definition and framework will also guide future quality measurement efforts in HCBS.

Definition of Home and Community-Based Services

Given the heterogeneity of people who use HCBS, the myriad ways in which services are funded, and the variety in the services themselves, one of the Committee's major goals in developing an operational definition is to maintain a broad and inclusive orientation as to what might be considered part of HCBS. At the same time, the definition needs to be specific enough to be meaningful and consistent. Committee members understand that the boundaries of the universe of HCBS are porous, even potentially subjective. There are differences of opinion regarding whether certain services should be considered part of HCBS and/or a clinical health service, human service, or any other categorization. Additionally, the Committee is attempting to establish an

operational definition that is positive in tone, devoid of value statements, plain-language, and concise. The resulting draft definition of HCBS is:

The term "home and community-based services" (HCBS) refers to an array of long-term supports that promote the independence, well-being, and choices of an individual of any age who has physical, cognitive, and/or behavioral health needs and that are delivered in the home or other integrated community setting.

To create a concise and usable definition, the Committee avoided relying upon specific examples that would have made it longer and more elaborate. For example, the definition purposefully excludes lists of services (e.g., personal care services, caregiver respite), specific groups of consumers that use HCBS (e.g., people with dementia, people with Autism Spectrum Disorder), and types of settings in which HCBS is delivered (e.g., private home, workplace). This consensus-based definition of HCBS will be used throughout the NQF project and can also inform researchers and other stakeholders in the field as we move toward a shared understanding.

Crafting the Consensus-Based Operational Definition

The process of creating a consensus-based operational definition for HCBS was iterative and incorporated both formal research and Committee members' expert opinions. When beginning the process, the Committee understood that HCBS have been defined in a multitude of ways in the literature and in practice. To support the Committee's development of its own operational definition of HCBS, the project reviewed more than 200 information sources and identified 27 existing definitions of HCBS and LTSS.¹⁴ Though the definitions varied widely as a result of the purposes for which they had originally been constructed, participants observed several commonalities in the definitions' components and themes. Definitions frequently described the purpose of HCBS or the goals the services are intended to accomplish, the types of services provided, characteristics of consumers who use HCBS, and the location where the services are delivered (see Exhibit 1).

Despite their commonalities, existing definitions developed for purposes such as research or program regulation could not be easily translated to an operational definition for this project. Therefore, using the existing definitions as a starting place, the Committee conducted a multistage process to develop its own operational definition. First, each Committee member reviewed the results of the literature search and provided his or her own definition of HCBS. NQF also requested suggestions for definitions from the public audience and HHS partners during a Committee web meeting. Staff compiled a draft definition based on all submissions for the Committee's review and refinement at a subsequent in-person meeting. The Committee made significant changes to arrive at the consensus definition previously presented.

Source	HCBS Definition
AARP Public Policy Institute "Raising Expectations: A State Scorecard on Long-Term Services and Supports for Older Adults, People with Disabilities, and Family Caregivers ¹⁵	Home and community-based services (HCBS) refer to assistance with daily activities that generally helps older adults and people with disabilities remain in their homes. Many people with LTSS needs require individualized services or supports to live in a variety of settings: their own homes or apartments, assisted living facilities, adult foster homes, congregate care facilities, or other supportive housing.
CMS State Plan Section 1915(i) Final	HCBS is defined as having the following qualities:
Rule ¹⁶	• The setting is integrated in the greater community, including opportunities to seek employment in competitive integrated settings and engage in the community
	• The setting is selected by the individual
	 The setting ensures individual rights of privacy, dignity, and respect and freedom from coercion and restraint
	 The setting optimizes individual initiative, autonomy, and independence in life choices
	 The setting facilitates individual choice regarding services and supports, including who provides them
Medicaid.gov ¹⁷	Home and community-based services (HCBS) provide opportunities for Medicaid beneficiaries to receive services in their own home or community. These programs serve a variety of targeted population groups, such as people with mental illnesses, intellectual or developmental disabilities, and/or physical disabilities.

EXHIBIT 1. EXAMPLES OF HCBS DEFINITIONS IDENTIFIED IN THE LITERATURE

Characteristics of High-Quality Home and Community-Based Services

Stemming from the process of creating the definition of HCBS, the Committee went on to identify specific characteristics of a high-quality HCBS system. This was necessary because the operational definition is more functional than aspirational, and it does not communicate the Committee's vision for what HCBS *should* be. Through extensive discussion, the Committee established that high-quality HCBS should be delivered in a manner that:

- Provides for a person-driven system that optimizes individual choice and control in the pursuit of self-identified goals (e.g., employment, enjoying life);
- Promotes social connectedness by including people who use HCBS in the community to the same degree as people who do not use HCBS;
- Includes a flexible range of services that are accessible, appropriate, effective, sufficient, dependable, and timely to respond to individuals' strengths, needs, and preferences;
- Integrates healthcare and social services to promote well-being;
- Protects the individual's human and legal rights, including privacy; dignity; freedom from abuse, neglect, and exploitation; respect; and independence;
- Ensures each individual can achieve the balance of personal safety and dignity of risk that he or she desires;
- Utilizes and supports a workforce that is trained, adequate, and culturally competent;
- Supports family caregivers;
- Engages individuals who use HCBS in the design, implementation, and evaluation of the system and its performance;

- Reduces disparities by offering equitable access to and delivery of services;
- Coordinates and integrates resources to maximize affordability and long-term sustainability;
- Supplies valid, meaningful, integrated, aligned, and accessible data; and
- Fosters accountability through measurement and reporting of quality and outcomes.

One discussion focused on the degree to which traditional health services (e.g., doctors' visits and hospital stays) should be integrated with nonhealth services that are a part of HCBS. There was recognition that coordination and integration of HCBS with medical care is important, but "overmedicalizing" HCBS must be avoided. Participants expressed concern that a greater emphasis within HCBS on health services and health outcomes would diminish opportunities for individuals to shape and direct their own services. This would be contrary to the consumer-driven philosophy that the Committee has encouraged. However, creating strict boundaries between health-related and other services is neither practical nor productive from the perspective of fostering holistic wellness and acknowledging the role that both clinical services and HCBS have in the healthcare system.

The Committee also had extensive discussion about the concept of safety and how to incorporate it in a balanced manner that empowers the consumer. For example, a strong emphasis on safety as a desirable outcome could convey that it is more important than other goals, such as mobility and socialization, when this is not the case. Attitudes toward safety and how it should be balanced with other goals vary greatly among consumers. The Committee agreed that supports chosen to promote safety should be selected in a person-directed or person-centered way that takes into account other priorities. Of course, no person's safety can be guaranteed, and it is impossible to eliminate risk. All individuals take risks in their daily lives, some infinitesimally small, others significant, and it should be a principle of high-quality HCBS that the system maximizes individual autonomy and self-determination. This "dignity of risk" is fundamental in a personcentered system.

Other concepts for which additional consensusbuilding will be necessary include how best to support paid and unpaid caregivers and what is meant by culturally competent services. The Committee invites public comment on whether the characteristics of high-quality HCBS are balanced, understandable, and communicate an achievable vision for high-quality HCBS.

Conceptual Framework for Measuring Home and Community-Based Services

After specifying the operational definition and characteristics of high-quality HCBS, the Committee began developing an illustration of the conceptual framework for how the mechanism of performance measurement operates in HCBS. NQF staff presented several conceptual frameworks from related projects to assist the Committee with the abstract thinking involved in conceptual framework development.¹⁸ These examples also served as a starting point for the discussion. The Committee noted features of the example frameworks that they thought would be useful to adapt to the HCBS measurement framework. The Committee intends to create a nationally relevant framework that is simple in style and reflective of the primary importance of improved outcomes for individuals using HCBS.

Each of the circles in the framework, arranged in a Venn diagram to indicate their overlapping nature, represents a level at which measurement can be applied: to the broadest level of policy or systems, to an intermediate level of accountability including providers and services, and to the most targeted level of individuals who use or are involved in HCBS. Measurement at each of these levels of analysis serves different purposes and responds



EXHIBIT 2. ILLUSTRATION OF CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK FOR MEASURING HCBS

to different information needs. The circling arrows surrounding the three circles indicate the transmission of information necessary to operate a dynamic, learning system. Measurement topics, arranged by domains, could apply to all of the levels of analysis, or to a subset. The measurement domains are described in a later section. The large arrow in the background of the figure represents the "action" of measurement and that it is intended to increase accountability, transparency, and quality improvement efforts system-wide. The primary purpose of the measurement, and also for the existence of the HCBS system itself, is to improve outcomes for individuals who use HCBS to live independently.

Most immediately, the measurement framework will organize the Committee's deliberations and help to guide the environmental scan of HCBS measures taking place in the next phase of this work. The measurement framework will also guide future quality measurement and measure development efforts by signaling where measurement should occur.

Committee Recommendations: Priority Measure Domains and Subdomains

The next components of the conceptual framework are measurement domains and subdomains. The Committee developed the highlevel domains and more detailed subdomains to highlight the topics for quality measurement in HCBS and begin the process of prioritizing them. The domains will also direct NQF staff to look for measures and evidence related to specific topics during the ongoing environmental scan. Because this project is meant to build on previously completed work, the Committee reviewed the domains for measurement most commonly cited in the literature (See Appendix B).

HCBS Domains of Measurement

The Committee carefully considered various opportunities for measurement and the best terminology to describe each of the domains of measurement. After thoughtful deliberation, they reached consensus on a list, provided in Exhibit 3, below. The selected domains relate to the previously outlined characteristics of highquality HCBS, though they do not have a 1:1 relationship. However, additional deliberations will be required to accurately explain the terms chosen to describe each domain, the subdomains contained within, and the domains' parameters.

Domains for Measurement	Description of Domain
Workforce/Providers	The adequacy and appropriateness of the provider network and HCBS workforce
Consumer Voice	The level of involvement individuals who use HCBS have in the design, implementation, and evaluation of the HCBS system at all levels
Choice and Control	The level to which individuals who use HCBS are able to choose their services and control how those services are delivered
Human and Legal Rights	The level to which the human and legal rights of individuals who use HCBS are promoted and protected
System Performance	The level of accountability within the HCBS system and the extent to which it operates efficiently, ethically, and is able to achieve desired outcomes
Full Community Inclusion	The level to which HCBS integrates individuals into their communities and fosters social connectedness
Caregiver Support	The level of support (e.g., financial, emotional, technical) available for the paid and unpaid caregivers of individuals who use HCBS
Effectiveness/Quality of Services	The level to which HCBS services are able to produce intended outcomes
Service Delivery	Aspects of services that enable a positive consumer experience (e.g., accessibility, respect, dependability, well-coordinated)
Equity	The level to which HCBS is equitability delivered and made available to a broad array of individuals who need long-term supports
Health and Well-Being	The level of integration between healthcare and other supportive services to promote holistic wellness

EXHIBIT 3. DOMAINS OF HCBS QUALITY MEASURMENT

HCBS Subdomains of Measurement

The Committee began to establish subdomains to assist with defining each domain's scope and articulating ideas for measurement. The list of subdomains below is not exhaustive and will be refined, expanded, and/or consolidated as the project evolves (Exhibit 4). As currently written, the domains and subdomains overlap in important topic areas such as care coordination and selfdirection. This illustrates the interrelated nature of many concepts the Committee finds important.

The Committee acknowledged that measures related to some of the sub-domains would

operate at multiple levels of analysis. Specifically, they might be applied at the system level (e.g., a state or states' HCBS waivers or other HCBS programs), the intermediate accountable entity level (e.g., managed care plan, local agency) and/ or individual level (e.g., caregivers or individuals who use HCBS). Each domain and sub-domain can include multiple measures as well as measures of different types. As this is an iterative process, there will be several opportunities for the Committee, NQF members, and the public to further shape and refine the domains and sub-domains as this work continues.

EXHIBIT 4. DRAFT SUBDOMAINS OF HCBS QUALITY MEASUREMENT

Domains for Measurement	Subdomains Corresponding to Each Domain
Workforce/Providers	Sufficient numbers and appropriately dispersed; dependability; respect for boundaries, privacy, consumer preferences, and values; skilled; demonstrated competencies when appropriate; culturally competent, sensitive, and mindful; adequately compensated, with benefits; safety of the worker; teamwork, good communications, and value-based leadership
Consumer Voice	Meaningful mechanism for input (e.g., design, implementation, evaluation); consumer-driven system; breadth and depth of consumer participation; level of commitment to consumer involvement; diversity of consumer and workforce engagement; and outreach to promote accessible consumer engagement
Choice and Control	Choice of program delivery models and provider(s) including self-direction, agency, particular worker(s), and setting(s); personal freedoms and dignity of risk; achieving individual goals and preferences (i.e., individuality, person-centered planning); self-direction; shared accountability
Human and Legal Rights	Delivery system promotes dignity and respect; privacy; informed consent; freedom from abuse and neglect; optimizing the preservation of legal and human rights; sense of safety; system responsiveness
System Performance	Consumer engagement; participatory program design; reliability; publicly available data; appropriate and fair resource allocation based on need; primarily judged by the aggregate of individual outcomes; waiting lists; backlog; financing and service delivery structures; availability of services; efficiency and evidence based practices; data integrity
Full Community Inclusion	Enjoyment or fun; employment, education, or productivity; social connectedness and relationships; social participation; resources to facilitate inclusion; choice of setting; accessibly built environment
Caregiver Support	Training and skill-building; access to resources (e.g., respite, crisis support); caregiver well-being (e.g., stress reduction, coping); caregiver and/or family assessment and planning; compensation
Effectiveness/Quality of Services	Goals and needs realized; preferences met; health outcomes achieved; technical skills assessed and monitored; technical services delivered; team performance; rebalancing
Service Delivery	Accessibility (e.g., geographic, economic, physical, and public and private awareness or linkage); appropriate (e.g., services aligned with needs and preferences, whether goals are assessed); sufficiency (e.g., scope of services, capacity to meet existing and future demands); dependable (e.g., coverage, timeliness, workforce continuity, knowledge of needs and preferences, and competency); timely initiation of services; coordination (e.g., comprehensive assessment, development of a plan, information exchange between all members of the care team, implementation of the plan, and evaluation of the plan)
Equity	Reduction in health and service disparities; transparency of resource allocation; access or waiting list; safe, accessible, and affordable housing; availability; timeliness; consistency across jurisdictions
Health and Well-Being	Physical, emotional, and cognitive functioning; social well-being, spirituality; safety and risk as defined by the consumer; freedom from abuse, neglect, and exploitation; health status and wellness (e.g., prevention, management of multiple chronic conditions); behavioral health

Mapping of the Domains to the Conceptual Framework

Exhibit 5, below, is a first attempt to organize the domains of measurement within the conceptual framework illustration. Recognizing that measures within each domain may operate within all three measurement areas, the domains were assigned their preliminary locations based on where the majority of measures within each domain might be applied. It would have been possible to map all of the domains within the center of the Venn diagram, but this would not be meaningful. During the environmental scan of measures, each measure found will be categorized by its level of analysis, thus identifying how well existing measures fit the Committee's framework. Additionally, the environmental scan will inform refinement of the domains and their placement within the conceptual framework.

Prioritization of Measurement Domains

In the next phase of the project, the Committee will review any currently available measures within each domain and elaborate on potential new measurement concepts for development. They will begin the process of identifying and organizing gaps in measurement and prioritizing opportunities for measurement. The priorities will be selected based on the areas of greatest need for quality improvement, the availability of measures, and other factors. Prioritization may also involve discussion of measures applicable to the subdomains. However, this project does not include NQF's formal endorsement process to review measures. The Committee will seek to understand the landscape of available measures to inform its recommendations about the path forward and use the knowledge to better identify priority gaps.

Overall, the goal of prioritizing the HCBS measurement domains is to stimulate research, to guide quality improvement efforts, and to signal to measure developers areas of importance for future measurement. Given the complexity of issues and variation in various aspects of HCBS, the Committee will continue to be deliberate in its approach to maintaining an inclusive orientation towards the prioritization of domains. Several controversial topics have already been revealed (e.g. safety, workforce training, and prioritizing types of consumer outcomes) and the public and NQF members are encouraged to participate in the consensus process by submitting comments to assist the Committee in its work.



EXHIBIT 5. MEASUREMENT DOMAINS WITHIN THE CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK ILLUSTRATION

NEXT PHASE OF PROJECT WORK

NQF is conducting a two-pronged research effort to inform Committee deliberations. It includes a synthesis of evidence supporting community living and high-quality HCBS, as well as an environmental scan for relevant HCBS performance measures and concepts. These activities will support the goal of winnowing a broad set of potential measurement opportunities into a prioritized subset of measures that inform and address the conceptual framework set forth by the multistakeholder Committee.

Continuing Environmental Scan

The first portion of the environmental scan focused on the collection of available resources to inform the development of the operational definition and conceptual framework, particularly any existing scans. More than 200 sources were identified and reviewed for information relevant to constructing the definition and framework. As the project progresses, the specific objectives for the environmental scan of measures and measure concepts are to:

- Identify existing measures applicable to HCBS, with an emphasis on those that map to the conceptual framework's domains and subdomains
- 2. Identify examples of HCBS quality measures to guide Committee discussion of implementation barriers and mitigation strategies, that is, a selection of measures that lend themselves to examination as "test cases"
- Identify measure concepts and ideas that should be further developed into future performance measures that will best support community living quality

Although the term "measure" is sometimes used to refer to multi-item instruments or scales used to obtain data from individuals about a particular domain of health status, quality of life, or experience with care (e.g., Consumer Assessment of Healthcare Providers and Systems [CAHPS]; Patient Health Questionnaire-9 [PHQ-9]), such instruments or scales alone do not constitute a performance measure. However, if considered a reflection of performance, aggregated data from such instruments or scales can be used as the basis of a performance measure. For purposes of this environmental scan, psychometrically tested and validated surveys, scales, or other instruments directly relevant to HCBS, especially those that assess quality of life and experience with HCBS, will be captured. During the scan, NQF may perform an initial prioritization of the measures and measure concepts with the greatest potential for later review by the Committee.

Continuing Synthesis of Evidence

A synthesis of other evidence related to HCBS quality and measurement is also taking place throughout the project. In the first phase of the synthesis of evidence, 38 of the most critical and high-impact sources were reviewed in depth to inform the definition and conceptual framework development. The specific objectives of the synthesis of evidence are to:

- Directly inform the development of the operational definition of HCBS and the conceptual framework for quality measurement
- 2. Support the environmental scan to identify existing measures applicable to HCBS as well as promising concepts and ideas that should be measured or further developed into future performance measures
- 3. Inform the prioritization of measurement gaps based on their impact, improvability, and inclusiveness.¹⁹ Generally, what is meant by these criteria from the Institute of Medicine is:

- *Impact*: the extent of the range of costs imposed (e.g., economic, impaired function, mortality), including effects on consumers, families, communities, and the nation
- Improvability: the extent of the gap between current practice and evidence-based best practice and the likelihood that the gap can be closed and conditions improved through measurement and change; and the opportunity to achieve dramatic improvements in broad quality aims such as safety, person-centeredness, timeliness, efficiency, equity, and effectiveness
- Inclusiveness: equity, as defined by the relevance of an area to a broad range of people with regard to age, gender, socioeconomic status, and ethnicity/ race; representativeness, as defined by the generalizability of associated quality improvement strategies to many types of populations across the spectrum of HCBS; and reach, as defined by the breadth of change effected through such strategies across a range of settings and providers

In support of these objectives, the Committee will continue to focus on literature and other materials associated with best practices and challenges related to measuring the delivery and outcomes of HCBS.

Future Milestones

This report is the first of three interim reports containing draft content. The next report, to be issued later in 2015, will focus on the environmental scan of measures and synthesis of evidence. The third report will include recommendations from the Committee on priorities for furthering HCBS quality measurement. Following the completion of each interim report there will be a 30-day public comment period. Comments will undergo Committee review, influence work going forward, and be made publicly available, but none of the interim reports will be revised. Rather, the interim reports will build on each other and culminate in a final report that will be submitted to HHS in September 2016.

ENDNOTES

1 U.S. Senate Commission on Long-Term Care. *Report* to the Congress. Washington, DC: Government Printing Office; 2013. Available at: http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/ GPO-LTCCOMMISSION/pdf/GPO-LTCCOMMISSION.pdf. Last accessed June 2015.

2 Feinberg L, Reinhard SC, Houser A, et al. Valuing the Invaluable: 2011 Update The Growing Contributions and Costs of Family Caregiving. [Insight on the Issue]. Washington, DC: AARP Public Policy Institute; 2011. Available at http://assets.aarp.org/rgcenter/ppi/ltc/ i51-caregiving.pdf. Last accessed July 2015.

3 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS). *National Strategy for Quality Improvement in Health Care Report to Congress*. Rockville, MD; Agency for Healthcare Research & Quality (AHRQ); 2011. Available at http://www.ahrq.gov/workingforquality/nqs/ nqs2011annlrpt.pdf. Last accessed July 2015.

4 HHS. Administration on Aging (AoA). Aging statistics website. Available at http://www.aoa.acl.gov/Aging_Statistics/index.aspx. Last accessed June 2015.

5 Council for Disability Awareness. Disability statistics website. Available at http://www.disabilitycanhappen.org/ chances_disability/disability_stats.asp. Last accessed July 2015.

6 Duckworth K. *Mental Illness Facts and Numbers*. Arlington, VA:National Alliance on Mental Illness (NAMI); 2013. Available at http://www2.nami.org/factsheets/mentalillness_factsheet.pdf. Last accessed June 2015.

7 Johnson RW, Toohey D, Wiener JM. *Meeting the Long-Term Care Needs of the Baby Boomers: How Changing Families Will Affect Paid Helpers and Institutions.* Washington, DC: Urban Institute; 2007. Available at: http://www.urban.org/UploadedPDF/311451_ Meeting_Care.pdf. Last accessed June 2015.

8 HHS. Administration on Aging (AoA). Aging statistics website. Available at http://www.aoa.acl.gov/Aging_Statistics/index.aspx. Last accessed June 2015.

9 U.S. Senate Commission on Long-Term Care. *Report to the Congress*. Washington, DC: Government Printing Office; 2013. Available at http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/GPO-LTCCOMMISSION/pdf/GPO-LTCCOMMISSION.pdf. Last accessed July 2015.

10 The Kaiser Commission on Medicaid and the Uninsured. *Medicaid Home and Community-Based Services Programs: 2011 Data Update*. Washington, DC: Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation (KFF); 2014. Available at http://files.kff.org/attachment/report-medicaid-homeand-community-based-services-programs-2011-dataupdate. Last accessed June 2015. 11 Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ). Executive summary environmental scan of measures for Medicaid title XIX home and community-based services measure scan as of July 5, 2007 website. Available at http://www.ahrq.gov/professionals/systems/long-termcare/resources/hcbs/hcbsreport/hcbssum.html. Last accessed July 2015.

12 Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS). The HCBS taxonomy: a new language for classifying home- and community-based services website. Available at http://www.cms.gov/mmrr/Briefs/B2014/ MMRR2014_004_03_b01.html. Last accessed July 2015.

13 CMS. Amended Announcement Invitation to Apply for FY2013 Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act Section 2701, Planning and Demonstration Grant for Testing Experience and Functional Tools in Community-Based Long Term Services and Supports (TEFT). Baltimore, MD: 2013. Available at http://medicaid.gov/ medicaid-chip-program-information/by-topics/longterm-services-and-supports/balancing/downloads/teftfoa-final-7-13.pdf. Last accessed July 2015.

14 National Quality Forum (NQF). Addressing Performance Measure Gaps in Home and Community-Based Services to Support Community Living. Materials presented at in-person meeting, April 29-30, 2015. Washington, DC; p. 87. Available at http://www.qualityforum.org/WorkArea/linkit.aspx?LinkIdentifier=id&Item ID=79376. Last accessed June 2015.

15 Reinhard SC, Kassner E, Houser A, et al. Raising Expectations 2014: A State Scorecard on Long-Term Services and Supports for Older Adults, People with Physical Disabilities, and Family Caregivers. Washington, DC: AARP Public Policy Institute 2014. Available at http:// www.aarp.org/content/dam/aarp/research/public_policy_ institute/ltc/2014/raising-expectations-2014-AARP-ppiltc.pdf. Last accessed June 2015.

16 CMS. Medicaid program; state plan home and community-based services, 5-year period for waivers, provider payment reassignment, and home and community-based setting requirements for community first choice and home and community-based services (HCBS) waivers. Fed Regist. 2014; 79; 2947 -3039. Available at http://www. gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2014-01-16/pdf/2014-00487.pdf. Last accessed June 2015.

17 CMS. Home & community based services website. Available at http://www.medicaid.gov/Medicaid-CHIP-Program-Information/By-Topics/Long-Term-Services-and-Supports/Home-and-Community-Based-Services/Homeand-Community-Based-Services.html. Last accessed June 2015. **18** Kaye S H. Measuring quality in home- and community-based services. *Gerontologist*. 2015. In press.; NQF. *Multiple Chronic Conditions Measurement Framework*. Washington, DC: NQF; 2012. ; NQF. *Priority Setting for Healthcare Performance Measurement: Addressing Performance Measure Gaps for Dementia, including Alzheimer's Disease*. Washington, DC: NQF; 2014. ; Handler A, Issel M, Turnock B. A conceptual framework to measure performance of the public health system. *Amer J Public Health*. 2001; 91(8):1235-1239. **19** Institute of Medicine (IOM). *Priority Areas for National Action: Transforming Health Care Quality*. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press; 2003. Available at: http://iom.edu/Reports/2003/Priority-Areasfor-National-Action-Transforming-Health-Care-Quality. aspx. Last accessed July 2015.

APPENDIX A: Home and Community-Based Services Committee Roster

NAME	ORGANIZATION
Joe Caldwell, PhD (Co-chair)	National Council on Aging
H. Stephen Kaye, PhD (Co-chair)	University of California San Francisco
Robert Applebaum, MSW, PhD	Miami University of Ohio
Kimberly Austin-Oser, MS	SEIU Healthcare
Suzanne Crisp	National Resource Center for Participant Directed Services
Jonathan Delman, PhD, JD, MPH	University of Massachusetts Medical School
Camille Dobson, MPA, CPHQ	National Association of States United for Aging and Disabilities
Sara Galantowicz, MPH	Abt Associates, Inc.
Ari Houser, MA	AARP Public Policy Institute
Patti Killingsworth	Bureau of TennCare
K. Charlie Lakin, PhD	Retired, formerly with National Institute on Disability and Rehabilitation Research
Clare Luz, PhD	Michigan State University
Sandra Markwood, MA	National Association of Area Agencies on Aging
Barbara McCann, MA	Interim Health Care
Sarita Mohanty, MD, MPH, MBA	Kaiser Permanente Northern California
Gerry Morrissey, MEd, MPA	The MENTOR Network
Ari Ne'eman	Autistic Self Advocacy Network
Andrey Ostrovsky, MD	Care at Hand
Mike Oxford	Topeka Independent Living Resource Center
Lorraine Phillips, PhD, RN	University of Missouri
Mary Smith, PhD	Illinois Division of Mental Health
Anita Yuskauskas, PhD	Pennsylvania State University

APPENDIX B: Crosswalk of High-Quality HCBS System Characteristics and Domains from Literature

The table below was used during the Committee's deliberations regarding measurement domains. The columns contain measurement domains described in the literature. These domains were selected from the sources found to be the most relevant to the work of this project which met specific selection criteria (e.g., breadth of scope, recency, and source type). They are presented by frequency, with those most frequently included in yellow (i.e., domains found in five or more of the selected sources), and those less often cited in

purple (i.e., domains found in more than three of the selected sources). To inform the process, the domains found in related works were cross-walked with the domains developed by the Committee to ensure that the Committee had not overlooked any key concepts. An "X" denotes overlap between the domains found in the literature and domains developed by the Committee. The Committee developed the domains in the far-left column, in brackets.

Committee Domains								Domains Often Cited in the Literature									
	Consumer and Caregiver Experience	Access to Supports and Services	Community Integration/ Inclusion	Person Centeredness	Service/Care Coordination	Quality of Life	Safety, Security, and Order	Functional Status	Performance	Healthcare/ Service Utilization	Provider Capacity and Capabilities	Support for Caregivers	Respect/Dignity	Quality of Care	Meaningful Activity		
[WORKFORCE/PROVIDERS] Workforce: trained, culturally competent, adequate, supported											х						
[CONSUMER VOICE] Participant engagement in the design, implementation, evaluation of the program																	
[CHOICE AND CONTROL] Choice, person-driven, focused on achieving individual goals, consumer directed, control, dignity of risk				x													
[HUMAN AND LEGAL RIGHTS] Privacy, dignity, respect, freedom/ independence, Legal rights													x				
[SYSTEM PERFORMANCE] Efficient, well-aligned, well-allocated, integrated, data integrity									x								

Committee Domains								Domains Often Cited in the Literature									
	Consumer and Caregiver Experience	Access to Supports and Services	Community Integration/ Inclusion	Person Centeredness	Service/Care Coordination	Quality of Life	Safety, Security, and Order	Functional Status	Performance	Healthcare/ Service Utilization	Provider Capacity and Capabilities	Support for Caregivers	Respect/Dignity	Quality of Care	Meaningful Activity		
[FULL COMMUNITY INCLUSION] Community engagement, inclusion (to the same degree as people not receiving HCBS), participation; employment and productivity, having fun; social connectedness			х												x		
[CAREGIVER SUPPORT] Family Caregivers are supported												х					
[EFFECTIVENESS/QUALITY OF SERVICES] Effectiveness of services/ quality of care														x			
[SERVICE DELIVERY] Services are accessible, appropriate, sufficient, dependable, timely	x	x			х												
[EQUITY] Equitable system/fairness and distribution of services that eliminate health disparities																	
[HEALTH AND WELL-BEING] Well- being: physical/emotional health, safety from the part of the consumer, freedom from abuse or exploitation, neglect							х	x									

NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM 1030 15TH STREET, NW, SUITE 800 WASHINGTON, DC 20005

www.qualityforum.org